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PER CURIAM:  

In January 2017, a federal grand jury returned a three-count indictment charging 

Angel Manuel Rivas, Jr., with conspiracy to interfere with interstate commerce by robbery 

(“Hobbs Act robbery”), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) (Count 1); a substantive count 

of Hobbs Act robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1951(a), 2 (Count 2); and brandishing 

a firearm in furtherance of a crime of violence, to wit: the conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act 

robbery and the Hobbs Act robbery charged in Counts 1 and 2, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 924(c)(1)(A), 2 (Count 3).  Rivas filed a motion to dismiss Count 3 based on Johnson 

v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 602 (2015) (declaring residual clause of Armed Career 

Criminal Act, 18 U.S.C. § 924(e), unconstitutionally vague), which the district court 

denied.  Rivas thereafter entered a conditional guilty plea to Counts 2 and 3, reserving the 

right to challenge on appeal the district court’s adverse ruling on the motion to dismiss.  

The court later sentenced Rivas to an aggregate term of 216 months’ imprisonment, 

consisting of 132 months on Count 2 and a consecutive 84-month term on Count 3.   

On appeal, Rivas argues that the district court erroneously denied his motion to 

dismiss and asks that we vacate his conviction on Count 3.  According to Rivas, because 

Count 3 was predicated on both Count 1—conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act robbery, which 

is not a crime of violence after Johnson, see United States v. Simms, 914 F.3d 229, 233-34, 

236-37 (4th Cir. 2019)—and Count 2—Hobbs Act robbery, which remains a crime of 

violence after Johnson, see United States v. Mathis, 932 F.3d 242, 266 (4th Cir. 2019)—

his § 924(c) conviction is invalid.  Finding no error, we affirm. 
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The critical documents establish that Count 3 was predicated on both the substantive 

Hobbs Act robbery offense charged in Count 2 and the conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act 

robbery offense charged in Count 1.  Rivas’ asserted claim of legal error is therefore 

foreclosed by our recent decision in United States v. Crawley, 2 F.4th 257, 263 (4th Cir. 

2021) (holding that, if a defendant’s § 924(c) conviction is “expressly based on [a] valid 

and invalid predicate,” then it “remains sound following Johnson and its progeny”), cert. 

denied, 142 S. Ct. 819 (2022).  Accordingly, the district court did not err when it denied 

Rivas’ motion to dismiss.   

We therefore affirm the criminal judgment.  We dispense with oral argument 

because the facts and legal contentions are adequately presented in the materials before this 

court and argument would not aid the decisional process.  

AFFIRMED 


